12-21-2017

State v. Pollard Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44936

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

After a jury trial, Michael P. Pollard was found guilty of one count of domestic battery and one count of petit theft. The district court imposed a sentence of ten years, with five years fixed for the domestic battery charge. On appeal, Mr. Pollard asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

In June of 2016, Caldwell police responded to a report of a battery. (PSI, p.3.)¹ The alleged victim, Dana White, told Officer Hutton that she was arguing with Mr. Pollard when he

¹ All citations to the PSI and its attachments refer to the 60-page electronic document.

destroyed one of her cell phones, and punched her several times. (PSI, p.3.) She also reported that Mr. Pollard stole her backpack when he left her apartment. (PSI, p.3.) Mr. Pollard was later arrested and charged with one count of domestic battery with traumatic injury, one count of intentional destruction of a telecommunication line or instrument, and one count of petit theft. (PSI, p.3; R., pp.24-26.) Mr. Pollard proceeded to trial and was found guilty of domestic battery and petit theft but acquitted on the second count. (PSI, p.3; R., pp.104-05.)

At the sentencing hearing, the State noted that Mr. Pollard was on probation when this offense occurred, and his sentence in the prior case had been imposed; it recommended that the district court impose a concurrent sentence of ten years, with five years fixed. (2/14/17 Tr., p.365, L.25 – p.367, L.4.) Mr. Pollard’s counsel noted that Mr. Pollard did not have any probation violations other than this offense. (2/14/17 Tr., p.367, Ls.13-16.) She did not request a specific underlying sentence but asked the district court to place Mr. Pollard on probation, or, in the alternative, retain jurisdiction. (2/14/17 Tr., p.367, L.17 – p.368, L.17.) The district court imposed a sentence of ten years, with five years fixed, to run concurrent to his sentence in the prior case.² (2/14/17 Tr., p.368, L.23 – p.369, L.1; R., p.117.) Mr. Pollard filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.124-26.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed a sentence of ten years, with five years fixed, following Mr. Pollard’s conviction for domestic battery?

² The district court imposed a sentence of six months, with credit for time served, on the petit theft charge. (2/14/17 Tr., p.369, Ls.14-17.)

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A Sentence Of Ten Years, With Five Years Fixed, Following Mr. Pollard's Conviction For Domestic Battery

Based on the facts of this case, Mr. Pollard's sentence of ten years, with five years fixed, is excessive because it is not necessary to achieve the goals of sentencing. When there is a claim that the sentencing court imposed an excessive sentence, the appellate court will conduct an independent examination of the record giving consideration to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest. *See State v. Reinke*, 103 Idaho 771 (Ct. App. 1982).

Independent appellate sentencing examinations are based on an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Burdett*, 134 Idaho 271, 276 (Ct. App. 2000). In such a review, "the appellate court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry. The sequence of the inquiry is: (1) whether the lower court rightly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the outer boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *State v. Hedger*, 115 Idaho 598, 600 (1989) (citation omitted). When a sentence is unreasonable based on the facts of the case, it is an abuse of discretion. *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89, 90 (1982). Unless it appears that confinement was necessary "to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation or retribution applicable to a given case," a sentence is unreasonable. *State v. Toohill*, 103 Idaho 565, 568 (Ct. App. 1982). Accordingly, if the sentence is excessive, "under any reasonable view of the facts," because it is not necessary to achieve these goals, it is unreasonable and therefore an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

There are several mitigating factors that illustrate why Mr. Pollard's sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. First, Mr. Pollard has significant mental health issues. The mental health examination report prepared for his case revealed diagnoses of a major depressive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and a provisional diagnosis of acute stress disorder. (PSI, pp.49, 58.) The mental health report also revealed that Mr. Pollard was experiencing suicidal ideations. (PSI, pp.22, 58.) Mr. Pollard has also been diagnosed with a severe alcohol use disorder and a severe cannabis use disorder. (PSI, pp.49, 58.) A defendant's mental health and substance abuse problems should be considered as mitigating information. *State v. Odiaga*, 125 Idaho 384, 391 (1994); *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89, 91 (1982) (reducing defendant's sentence, in part, because "the trial court did not give proper consideration of the defendant's alcoholic problem, the part it played in causing defendant to commit the crime [the defendant had been drinking at the time of the offense] and the suggested alternatives for treating the problem").

Mr. Pollard was also gainfully employed when this offense occurred. (PSI, p.15.) This is another recognized mitigating sentencing factor. *State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593, 595 (1982) (reducing sentence of defendant who, *inter alia*, had been steadily employed, enjoyed his work, and expressed a desire to advance within his company). Additionally, Mr. Pollard disclosed that he had a stable place to live if he was to be released. He said he has a good relationship with Nellie Rheuby who lives in Caldwell, and she said he could live with her when he was released. (PSI, p.13.) Regarding Mr. Pollard, Ms. Rheuby said, "He is like a grandson/son to us and does a lot of help around here. I could use him." (PSI, p.13.) Finally, Mr. Pollard has a positive relationship with his siblings, and with his son; Mr. Pollard said that, upon his release, his son

will move to Idaho. (PSI, pp.11, 14.) The support of friends and family should also be considered as mitigating information. *State v. Baiz*, 120 Idaho 292, 293 (Ct. App. 1991).

In light of the mitigating information in this case, Mr. Pollard's sentence was excessive because it was not necessary to accomplish the goals of sentencing outlined in *Toohill*. A shorter sentence would accomplish those goals. The district court did not adequately consider this option or the mitigating information in this case. Therefore, it abused its discretion because it did not reach its decision through an exercise of reason or act consistently with the legal standards applicable to its choices.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Pollard respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate.