1-18-2018

## State v. Pollard Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44936

Issue

Has Pollard failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a unified sentence of 10 years, with five years fixed, upon the jury verdict finding him guilty of domestic battery with traumatic injury?

Pollard Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

A jury found Pollard guilty of domestic battery with traumatic injury and the district court imposed a unified sentence of 10 years, with five years fixed, and ordered that the sentence run concurrently to Pollard's sentence in a separate case. (R., pp.117-18.) Pollard filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.124-27.)

Pollard asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence in light of his mental health issues, substance abuse issues, employment, family support, and because he had a stable place to live if he was released. (Appellant’s brief, pp.3-5.) Pollard has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

When evaluating whether a sentence is excessive, the court considers the entire length of the sentence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2016); State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148, 191 P.3d 217, 226 (2008). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 687, 391 (2007). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (citations omitted). To carry this burden the appellant must show the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Id. A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution. Id. The district court has the discretion to weigh those objectives and give them differing weights when deciding upon the sentence. Id. at 9, 368 P.3d at 629; State v. Moore, 131 Idaho 814, 825, 965 P.2d 174, 185 (1998) (court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the objectives of punishment, deterrence and protection of society outweighed the need for rehabilitation). “In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ.” McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (quoting Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148-49, 191 P.3d at 226-27). Furthermore, “[a] sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion by the trial court.” Id. (quoting State v. Nice, 103 Idaho 89, 90, 645 P.2d 323, 324 (1982)).

The maximum prison sentence for domestic battery with traumatic injury is 10 years. I.C. § 18-918(2)(b). The district court imposed a unified sentence of 10 years, with five years fixed, which falls within the statutory guidelines. (R., pp.117-18.) Pollard's sentence is not excessive in light of his ongoing, violent criminal behavior.

Pollard's criminal record demonstrates his disregard for the law and the well-being of others. Pollard has 10 misdemeanor convictions that include: inflict corporal injury on a spouse, under the influence of a controlled substance, selling liquor to a minor, driving with license suspended, disturbing the peace, malicious injury to property, and two counts of DUI. (PSI, pp.5-9.) Pollard also has three previous felony convictions for burglary, inflict corporal injury on a spouse, and DUI. (PSI, pp.5-8.) Pollard has previously been charged with misdemeanor assault, battery, unlawful transportation of alcoholic beverage, and maliciously injure or destroy real or personal property; he also has felony charges for receiving stolen property and passing completed checks. (PSI, pp.5-8.) Due to his lengthy criminal history, Pollard has been assessed as having a high risk for recidivism, and neither a rider program nor multiple terms of probation have deterred Pollard from his criminal thinking. (PSI, pp.9-10, 21.) Though it is clear that Pollard has mental health and substance abuse issues, these issues do not outweigh the seriousness of the offense. Also, while Pollard asserts that he was gainfully employed at the time of the offense, he held that job for only two months and lost it when he was incarcerated for the instant offense. (PSI, p.15.) Pollard's relationships with his siblings and son have not deterred him from continued criminal conduct.

At sentencing, the state addressed the seriousness of the offense, the effect Pollard's crime had on the victim, his level of violence, and that his sentence from a previous case had been imposed in light of the instant offense. (2/14/17 Tr., p.366, Ls.5-17 (Appendix A).) The

state submits that Pollard has failed to establish that his sentence is excessive for all of the above reasons and for the reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpt of the sentencing hearing transcript, which the state adopts as its argument on appeal.

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm Pollard's conviction and sentence.